2000

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Michael J. Kearns : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

An order denying a motion to set aside a judgment is regarded as a final judgment and appealable. *Blyth & Fargo Co. v. Swenson*, 49 P. 1027, 1028 (Utah 1897). Accordingly, under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction in this matter. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4), the Supreme Court transferred this matter to the Utah Court of Appeals for disposition.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue #1

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in ruling that Mr. Kearns failed to show that the judgment entered against him was due to excusable neglect considering that his wife had recently given birth to their first child, combined with the fact that his newborn son suffered from life threatening conditions ranging from severe allergies to complications with his digestive system?

Issue Preserved for Appeal: On June 24, 2000, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal (R. 244-46) specifically preserving this issue for review on appeal.

Standard of Review : The standard of review in determining whether a movant has demonstrated “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect” is abuse of discretion. See *Larsen v. Collina*, 684 P.2d 52 (Utah 1984); *Russell v. Martell*, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984).

Issue #2

Did the trial court err in ruling that Mr. Kearns failed to show that he has a meritorious defense, given the express language contained in the Agreement and the potential offset based upon Wells Fargo's breach of its fiduciary duties it owed Mr. Kearns?

Issue Preserved for Appeal: On June 24, 2000, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal (R. 244-46) specifically preserving this issue for review on appeal.

Standard of Review: The determination of whether a defense is meritorious is a question of law, and accordingly, the appellate court reviews the trial court's finding for correctness. Under decisive Utah case law, "correctness" means that the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. See *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994); *State v. Deli*, 861 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah 1993); *Kennecott Corp. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 858 P.2d 1381, 1383 (Utah 1993).

DETERMINATIVE RULE

Rule 60(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect

Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) (1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the denial of Mr. Kearns' Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment.

The pivotal issue in this case is whether the trial court abused its discretion in ruling that Mr. Kearns failed to show that the judgment entered against him was due to excusable neglect considering that his wife, who was served with the Complaint, had recently given birth to their first child, combined with the fact that his newborn son suffered from life threatening conditions ranging from severe allergies to complications with his digestive system.

Rather than considering and resolving the question of excusable neglect prior to any consideration of the issue as to whether a meritorious defense existed, the trial court simultaneously determined that Mr. Kearns failed to show excusable neglect *and* failed to demonstrate that he had a meritorious defense to the matters

raised in Wells Fargo's Complaint. This ruling was in spite of the express language in the Agreement which provided that the exclusive remedy for resolving any disputes stemming from the Agreement was binding arbitration. Not only was filing the Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court improper, but the judgment against Mr. Kearns provided for court costs and attorneys' fees which would have been avoided altogether had Wells Fargo abided by the parties' express intention that their disputes be resolved by binding arbitration rather than in court.

Further, the refusal to set aside the default may have some negative impact upon Mr. Kearns' lender liability claims, which may offset all or a significant portion of the Judgment. Wells Fargo was acting as the Trustee of a trust in which Mr. Kearns was the primary beneficiary and breached its fiduciary duties to Mr. Kearns by the pursuit of this lawsuit.

B. Course of Proceedings

On August 9, 1999, Plaintiff Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ("Wells Fargo") filed a Complaint against Mr. Kearns stemming from a dispute arising from a Line of Credit Agreement (the "Agreement") entered into between Mr. Kearns and Wells Fargo. (R. 1-12). Despite knowing that Mr. Kearns was represented by counsel in another case involving Wells Fargo, on August 23, 1999, Wells Fargo opted to serve the Complaint and Summons upon Miriam C. Kearns ("Mrs. Kearns"), Mr. Kearns' wife. (R. 15). When the Complaint was served upon Mrs. Kearns she had recently given birth to their son. (R. 99 ¶ 3). Unfortunately, the newborn suffered from many

ailments ranging from severe allergies to complications with his digestive system. (R. 99 ¶ 3; R. 96 ¶ 2). Needless to say, Mrs. Kearns thoughts, emotions and efforts were expended on caring for her son and she neglected to immediately give the Complaint to Mr. Kearns. (R. 99 ¶ 4; R. 96 ¶ 3). Once alerted to the Complaint, Mr. Kearns failed to answer the Complaint or bring it to his attorney's attention given his own preoccupation with his son's condition. (R. 96 ¶ 4).

On September 22, 1999, Wells Fargo filed a Default Certificate as well as an Affidavit of Attorney's Fees and Costs. (R. 16; R. 17-21). On September 27, 1999, a Default Judgment was entered against Mr. Kearns in favor of Wells Fargo in the sum of \$266,351.85, costs in the sum of \$107.00, attorneys' fees in the sum of \$837.00, and interest in the sum of \$5,094.18, for a total award of \$272,390.03. (R. 22-23). Subsequently, the Notice of Entry of Default Judgment was filed on October 1, 1999. (R. 26-27).

On December 27, 1999, Mr. Kearns filed a Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment. (R. 81-94). On March 1, 2000, the trial court denied Mr. Kearns' Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment. (Addendum No. 1 (R. 241-43)). On March 28, 2000, pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Mr. Kearns appealed the final Order of the Honorable Sandra N. Peuler Denying Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment entered on March 1, 2000. (Addendum No. 2 (R. 244-46)).

C. Disposition at Trial Court

The Honorable Sandra N. Peuler denied Mr. Kearns' Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment ruling that although the motion was timely, Mr. Kearns failed to show excusable neglect and failed to demonstrate that he had a meritorious defense to the matters raised in Wells Fargo's Complaint. (R. 242 ¶¶ 3-4). Particularly, the Court was not persuaded by Mr. Kearns' argument that the matter should have been arbitrated in accordance with the express language in the Agreement because the Court determined that Mr. Kearns had to make a formal election of arbitration before the Court in the civil action before the arbitration provision became effective. (R. 242 ¶ 4).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court clearly abused its discretion in refusing to vacate the judgment entered against Mr. Kearns. Mr. Kearns provided the trial court with reasonable justification for his failure to appear and answer the Complaint based upon the facts that his wife had recently given birth and his newborn son suffered from life-threatening ailments.

Similarly, the trial court erred in ruling that Mr. Kearns did not have a meritorious defense. Even though Mr. Kearns never disputed that he owed Wells Fargo the loan amount pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Mr. Kearns' meritorious defense is rooted in the express language of the Agreement which provides that the only form of dispute resolution is binding arbitration. As a result,

Wells Fargo improperly filed the Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court and obtained a judgment against Mr. Kearns that exceeded the amount Wells Fargo was entitled to under the express language of the Agreement because Wells Fargo was awarded court costs and attorney's fees.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Ruling That Mr. Kearns Failed to Show That the Judgment Entered Against Him Was Due to Excusable Neglect Considering That His Wife Had Recently Given Birth to Their First Child, Combined with the Fact That His Newborn Son Suffered from Life Threatening Conditions Ranging from Severe Allergies to Complications with His Digestive System

The trial court clearly abused its discretion in refusing to vacate the judgment because Mr. Kearns had a reasonable justification for his failure to answer. The standard for setting aside a default judgment is set forth in Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1):

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect

Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1). Mr. Kearns' motion to set aside the default judgment was predicated upon excusable neglect.

The trial court is given broad discretion in granting or denying Rule 60(b)(1) motions and the appellate court "will reverse the trial court only where an abuse of discretion is clearly established" *Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker*, 513 P.2d

429, 431 (Utah 1973); *see also Gardiner & Gardiner Builders v. Swapp*, 656 P.2d 429 (Utah 1982). “No general rule can be laid down respecting the discretion to be exercised in setting aside or refusing to set aside a judgment by default . . . but the discretion should always be so exercised as to promote the ends of justice.” *Utah Commercial & Savings Bank v. Trumbo*, 53 P. 1033, 1037 (Utah 1898).

Utah’s well-settled policy with regard to setting aside default judgments is “that the courts should be liberal in granting relief against judgments taken by default to the end that controversies may be tried on the merits.” *Mason v. Mason*, 597 P.2d 1322, 1323 (Utah 1979). The Utah Supreme Court, however, has acknowledged the coexistence of judicial policy with the broad deference accorded to the trial court in ruling upon motions predicated upon setting aside default judgments due to excusable neglect. *Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co.*, 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1953); *Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co.*, 376 P.2d 951 (Utah 1962). The Utah Supreme Court has addressed the implementation of this policy as follows:

It is undoubtedly correct that the trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying such motions. However, it is also true that the court cannot act arbitrarily in that regard, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice. **To clamp a judgment rigidly and irrevocably on a party without a hearing is obviously a harsh and oppressive thing. It is fundamental in our system of justice that each party to a controversy should be afforded an opportunity to present his**

side of the case. For that reason it is quite uniformly regarded as a abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside.

Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co., 376 P.2d at 952 (citations omitted; emphasis added). Clearly, it is an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a judgment where there is reasonable justification for the defendants' failure to appear and answer. *Id.*

In *Westinghouse*, the Utah Supreme Court further elaborated on implementation of public policy considerations:

It is indeed commendable to handle cases with dispatch and to move calendars with expedition in order to keep them up to date. But it is even more important to keep in mind that the very reason for the existence of courts is to afford disputants an opportunity to be heard and to do justice between them. In conformity with that principle the courts generally tend to favor granting relief from default judgments where there is any reasonable excuse, unless it will result in substantial prejudice or injustice to the adverse party.

Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876, 879 (Utah 1975)(citing Utah R. Civ. P. 55(c) and 60(b); *Heathman v. Fabian & Clandenin*, 377 P.2d 189 (Utah 1962))(emphasis added); *Utah Commercial & Savings Bank v. Trumbo*, 53 P. 1033 (Utah 1898)).

Courts generally grant relief in questionable cases so that a party may have a hearing. In *Warren*, the court stated:

The allowance of a vacation of judgment is a creature of equity designed to relieve against harshness of enforcing a judgment, which may occur through procedural difficulties, the wrongs of the opposing party, or misfortunes which prevent the presentation of a claim or defense.

Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741, 742 (Utah 1953).

The trial court abused its discretion when it refused to vacate the judgment entered against Mr. Kearns because he had a reasonable justification for his failure to appear and answer. Mr. Kearns' reasonable justification stems from the dynamics associated with his wife recently giving birth to their son, combined with the fact that the newborn suffered from life-threatening conditions. It is reasonable that an individual enduring the same emotional and physical stress, resulting from the uncertainty of whether your newborn child would survive, may similarly fail to consider it a priority to respond to a Complaint.

Additionally, Mr. Kearns was engaged in efforts to terminate the Kearns Trust at Wells Fargo, and he assumed that the Complaint was Wells Fargo's attempt to retaliate for his efforts to terminate a trust worth approximately \$8 million dollars. Given that Wells Fargo managed his trust and provided the loan pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Wells Fargo knew that Mr. Kearns would not be able to pay the demanded amount on the loan until he could successfully terminate the Kearns Trust. Taking advantage of this knowledge, Wells Fargo filed the Complaint and deliberately served it upon Mrs. Kearns, at a time when Mr. Kearns was extremely vulnerable. Wells Fargo knew that Mr. Kearns was represented by Kirton &

McConkie and easily could have contacted Eric C. Olson or Matthew K. Richards to request that they accept service on behalf of Mr. Kearns. Mr. Kearns set forth these facts in his Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and requested an oral argument on this motion. In the Minute Entry dated January 31, 2000, Judge Peuler found that although oral argument was requested, oral argument would not substantially assist the Court in rendering its ruling.

In summary, given the trial court's abuse of discretion, this Court should reverse and remand with instructions to the trial court to vacate the judgment entered against Mr. Kearns.

POINT II

The Trial Court Erred in Ruling That Mr. Kearns Failed to Show a Meritorious Defense Given the Express Language in the Agreement That the Only Form of Dispute Resolution Is Binding Arbitration

After considering and resolving the question of whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to vacate the judgment entered against Mr. Kearns, this Court is faced with assessing whether the trial court was correct in ruling that Mr. Kearns failed to show a meritorious defense.

In *Musselman*, the leading case establishing the requirement that one seeking to be relieved from a default judgment must additionally show that the motion was

filed in a timely manner and that a meritorious defense to the action exists, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

“In order for [Mr. Kearns] to be relieved from the default judgment, he must not only show that the judgment was entered against him through excusable neglect (or any other reason specified in Rule 60(b)), but he must also show that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and that he has a meritorious defense to the action.”

State v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055-56 (Utah 1983)(citing *Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corp.*, 545 P.2d 507 (Utah 1976); *Mason v. Mason*, 597 P.2d 1322 (Utah 1979); *DeHoney v. Hernandez*, 595 P.2d 159 (Utah 1979); *White v. Holm*, 438 P.2d 581 (Utah 1968)).

Similarly, in the *Cox* decision, the Utah Supreme Court set forth:

[T]he policy in this jurisdiction requiring that the lower court consider and resolve the question of excusable neglect (when the motion to vacate the default judgment is based on excusable neglect) prior to its consideration of the issue of whether a meritorious defense exists. Furthermore in accordance with this policy, it is unnecessary, and moreover inappropriate, to even consider the issue of meritorious defenses unless the court is satisfied that a sufficient excuse has been shown.

State v. Nelson, 667 P.2d at 1056 (citing *Board of Education of Granite School District v. Cox*, 384 P.2d 806 (Utah 1963)).

A. Mr. Kearns' Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment Was Timely under Rule 58a of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Mr. Kearns filed his Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment in a timely manner.

Utah R. Civ. P. 58A(c) provides in relevant part:

*When judgment entered; notation in register of actions and judgment docket. A judgment is complete and shall be deemed entered for all purposes . . . when the same is **signed and filed** as herein above provided. The clerk shall immediately make a notation of the Judgment in the register of actions and the judgment docket.*

(Emphasis added) Utah R. Civ. P. 58A(c)(1999). Under Rule 58A(c) “a judgment is complete and deemed entered for all purposes when the same is signed and filed.”

In re Bundy's Estate v. Bundy, 241 P.2d 462, 467 (Utah 1952).

The court docket in this case reflects that even though Judge Peuler signed the Default Judgment on September 23, 1999, it was not filed by Judge Peuler's clerk nor entered into the registry of judgments until September 27, 1999.

Considering that the Default Judgment was not deemed “entered” pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 58A until September 27, 1999, Mr. Kearns had until December 27, 1999, to file a motion to set aside the entry of default. Mr. Kearns' Motion to Set

Aside Default Judgment was filed on December 27, 1999, and, therefore, within the three-month time period required under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b).

B. Mr. Kearns Has a Meritorious Defense to this Action, Rooted in the Express Language of the Agreement, That Binding Arbitration Is the Only Form of Dispute Resolution To Which These Parties Agreed, and Wells Fargo's Filing of the Complaint in the Third District Court Was Improper

Wells Fargo's filing of the Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court was improper given the express terms of the Agreement. The Agreement, drafted by the Wells Fargo, provides in pertinent part:

(1) Binding Arbitration. You agree that any Dispute not resolved informally, regardless of when it arose, will be settled in accordance with the terms of the Arbitration Program at the election of any party. A "Dispute" shall include any dispute, claim or controversy of any kind involving you or us, whether in contract or in tort, legal or equitable, now existing or hereafter arising, relating in any way to this Agreement or any related agreements (the "Documents"), or any past, present or future loans, services, agreements, relationships, incidents or injuries of any kind whatsoever relating to or involving the Private Banking Group or any successor group or department of Lender. Any party to a Dispute may by summary proceeding bring any action in court to compel arbitration of any Dispute. Any party who fails to submit to binding arbitration following a lawful demand by the opposing party shall bear all costs and expenses incurred by the opposing party in compelling arbitration of any Dispute. The parties agree that by engaging in activities with or involving each other as described above, they are participating in transactions involving interstate commerce. **THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT THEIR DISPUTES SHALL BE RESOLVED BY BINDING ARBITRATION RATHER THAN IN COURT, AND ONCE DECIDED BY ARBITRATION NO DISPUTE CAN LATER BE BROUGHT, FILED OR PURSUED IN COURT BEFORE A JUDGE OR JURY.**

Given this language in the Agreement, Mr. Kearns has a meritorious defense to this action because he was entitled to compel arbitration of this Dispute, coupled with the fact that binding arbitration is the only form of dispute resolution to which the parties agreed.