2000

Wells Fargo Bank v. Michael J. Kearns : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS FILED MORE THAN THREE MONTHS AFTER THE JUDGMENT WAS ENTERED.

It appears from numerous appellate decisions in this state that the first inquiry regarding a Rule 60(b)(1) motion is whether the motion was timely filed. Black's Title, 991 P.2d at 610; Richins, 817 P.2d at 387; and Musselman, 667 P.2d at 1055-56. While this does not appear to be the basis of the Trial Court's ruling, this is an important issue for this Court to consider. Since the dates are without dispute, it would appear that the application of the timing rule contained in Rule 60(b), as that is defined by Rule 58A, would be a question of easy determination and result in summary disposition of this matter.

It is without dispute that the Default Judgment in this case was signed on September 23, 1999, and was stamped "Filed District Court Third Judicial District September 23, 1999, by K. Grotepas, Deputy Clerk" on its face. (R. 22-23). (See, Addendum # 3.) It is also without dispute that this same Default Judgment was entered in the Registry of Judgments on September 27, 1999. (R. 22). (Addendum # 3.) It is without dispute that Kearns' Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment was filed with the Third District Court on December 27, 1999, at 4:22 p.m. (R. 77-80). Thus, Kearns' Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment can only be considered timely if the 3-month time period begins running from September 27, 1999, the date of entry into the Registry of Judgments. If the time period began running on

September 23, 1999, then the Kearns' Motion was untimely. An untimely motion to set aside default judgment is a fatal defect, which renders other inquiries under Rule 60(b) moot. M.L. v. V.H., 894 P.2d 1285, 1288 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

Rule 60(b) states that “the motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than three months after the **judgment**, order or proceeding **was entered or taken**.” (emphasis added). Wells Fargo believes that the phrase “entered or taken” in Rule 60(b), must be defined and construed in connection with the language of Rule 58A(b) and (c). Rule 58A states as follows:

(b) *Judgment in other cases.* Except as provided in Subdivision (a) hereof and Subdivision (b)(1) of Rule 55, all judgments shall be signed by the judge and **filed with the clerk**. (emphasis added)

(c) *When judgment entered; notation and register of actions and judgment docket.* A judgment is complete and shall be deemed entered for all purposes, except the creation of lien on real property, when the same is **signed and filed** as hereinabove provided. The clerk shall immediately make a notation of the judgment in the register of actions and the judgment docket. (emphasis added)

The language of Rule 58A says “filed **with** the Clerk,” not “filed **by** the Clerk”. That language would indicate that once the Judge signs the Judgment and gives it to the court clerk (i.e. files it) that it is a final judgment regardless of when it is entered in the register of actions and the judgment docket. In this case it is without dispute that the Judgment was signed by the Honorable Sandra N. Peuler, Third Judicial District Court Judge, on September 23, 1999. It is also without question that it was filed with the Clerk of the Court on September 23, 1999. (See, Court stamp

on Addendum # 3.) Consequently, the term “entered” in Rule 60(b) is defined by Rule 58A(b) and (c). Since a judgment is entered when it is signed and filed “with the clerk” then it should be without dispute that the judgment in this case was “entered” on September 23, 1999. The use of September 27, 1999, the date when Judgment was filed in the Judgment Register is not the date of entry for Rule 60(b) purposes.

Kearns filed his Motion to Set Aside on Monday, December 27, 1999, more than three months after the judgment was “entered”. To be timely, it should have been filed by Friday, December 24, 1999. As it was untimely, it should have been denied by the Trial Court on that basis alone. Kearns was specifically informed of the date of the entry of the Judgment pursuant to a Notice of Entry of Default Judgment filed on behalf of Wells Fargo, which was mailed to Kearns on September 30, 1999. (R. 26-27). Not only did Kearns have actual notice, but his counsel, once involved in this matter on October 7, 1999 (R. 102), had a personal obligation to check with the Clerk of the Court as to the date of entry. See, Automatic Control Products Corp. v. Tel-Tech, Inc., 780 P.2d 1258, 1260 (Utah 1989). Thus, there can be no argument that his attorney did not have notice and sufficient time to file the motion in a timely manner.

Thus, this Court should determine that the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment was without merit because it was untimely.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT KEARNS' FAILURE TO ANSWER THE COMPLAINT WAS NOT DUE TO EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE.

Kearns claims that the Trial Court abused its discretion in refusing to vacate the Judgment because Kearns alleges that he had sufficient "excusable neglect" to meet the standards under Rule 60(b)(1) to set aside the default judgment. Unfortunately in support of his argument, Kearns skews the law by only quoting language that talks about the policy of allowing a party to have his day in court. What Kearns does not do is appropriately cite to this Court any of the cases defining the balancing that is to be used in finding "excusable neglect" and how that term is defined and applied in specific circumstances. When these cases are reviewed and applied, it is clear that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Kearns' neglect was not excusable under the specific facts of this case.

The policy considerations set forth by Kearns are not nearly as one-sided as they appear from his brief. In discussing these policy considerations, the Utah Supreme Court in Airkem Intermountain v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 513 P.2d 429 (1973), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

For this court to overturn the discretion of the lower court in refusing to vacate a valid judgment, the requirements of public policy demand **more than a mere statement that a person did not have his day in court** when full opportunity for a hearing was afforded to him or his representative. The movant must show that he has used *due diligence* and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control. Id. 431 (emphasis in bold added).

See also, Black's Title, Inc., 991 P.2d at 611.

This excusable neglect standard has also been described as the “exercise of ‘due diligence’ by a reasonably prudent person under similar circumstances.” Mini Spas, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 733 P.2d 130, 132 (Utah 1987). See also, Meadow Fresh Farms, Inc. v. Utah State University Department of Agriculture and Applied Science, 813 P.2d 1216, 1218 (Utah App. 1991).

Kearns was never prevented from appearing. Rather than showing “due diligence”, the facts show that Kearns made a conscious decision to not answer the Complaint and knowingly accepted the consequences.

Kearns was served with the Complaint on **August 23, 1999**, through substitute service on Kearns' wife. The Complaint stemmed from Kearns' failure to make the minimum interest payments on a \$250,000.00 line of credit with Wells Fargo and subsequent refusal to pay the full amount of the loan after acceleration. Kearns claims in paragraph 3 of his Affidavit that “[d]ue to my wife's preoccupation with sustaining my son's life, she neglected to bring the Complaint to my attention for **several days**” (emphasis added) (Addendum #4). Kearns states in paragraph 4 of his Affidavit that “[o]nce Mrs. Kearns alerted me to the Complaint, **I failed to file an answer or bring it to my attorney's attention** due to my own preoccupation with my son's condition” (emphasis added) (Addendum #2). Apparently these “facts” are supposed to show that Kearns did not give the Complaint to his attorney before the

default was entered. These alleged “facts” are the only sworn statements given by Kearns to support his claim of excusable neglect.

Assuming that Kearns’ son was in fact ill, it is clear that this had nothing to do with **Kearns’** ability to timely answer the Complaint¹. Kearns’ wife did not wait “several days” before giving the subject Complaint to Kearns. On **August 26, 1999**, Kearns filed the Second Affidavit of Michael J. Kearns in the Thomas Kearns Trust Action (Addendum #2). **This Affidavit was filed three days after the subject Complaint was served on Kearns’ wife.** Kearns stated in the Second Affidavit that:

“On August 23, 1999, I was served with a summons and complaint, dated August 9, 1999, and attached hereto as Exhibit Q, whereby the Bank initiated litigation against me seeking payment of the entire loan amount, interest, and litigation costs.”

Because Kearns refers to the Complaint in his Affidavit and attaches it as an exhibit on August 26, 1999, Kearns’ statement that his wife failed to give him the Complaint for “several days” must mean three days or less.

Additionally, Kearns’ sworn statement that he failed to bring the Complaint to his attorney’s attention due to his preoccupation with his son’s condition is false. In the Thomas Kearns Trust Action, Kearns was represented by Eric C. Olson and Matthew K. Richards of the law firm of Kirton & McConkie. **Kearns’ attorneys filed**

¹ Even if Kearns’ son was ill, inconvenience or press of personal or business affairs does not constitute excusable neglect. Valley Leasing v. Houghton, 661 P.2d 959 (Utah 1983), nor does even personal illness, Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1983).

a Reply Memorandum in the Thomas Kearns Trust Action on August 26, 1999, three days after the service of the subject Complaint. On page 10 of the Reply Memorandum, **Kearns' attorneys** stated that:

*“ . . . [O]nce Michael followed through with his threats to seek a new trustee, collection efforts began and **Michael now has been sued by the very entity that owes him a fiduciary duty.**”*

Thus, Kearns not only informed his attorneys of the subject Complaint, he supplied his attorneys with the Complaint, and his attorneys used the subject Complaint as an exhibit in the Thomas Kearns Trust Action **only three days after it was served** on Kearns' wife. Thus, Kearns' attorneys had at least until September 23, 1999, (the date of the Default Judgment) to answer the Complaint, or **28 days** from the date it was used by Kearns and his attorneys in the Thomas Kearns Trust Action. Kearns and his attorneys' failure to timely answer was not the result of “excusable neglect.”

The excuse that Kearns offers to support his claim of “excusable neglect” and to pass that test that he used the due diligence of an ordinary person in responding to the complaint was that he was “preoccupied” with his son's illness. However, this statement is insufficient to establish excusable neglect. The effect of illness in demonstrating “excusable neglect” has been reviewed several times by Utah courts.

The most recent application of the illness claim is as follows:

Consequently, the Utah Supreme Court has held that “[i]llness alone is not sufficient to make neglect in defending one's actions excusable.” *Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co.*, 123 Utah 416, 420-21, 260 P.2d 741, 743 (1953). A movant seeking relief may not simply rest on the assertion that he was ill to excuse his inactions; he must show that the nature of the **illness**

incapacitated him such that he was **unable to act**. See, *Id.* at 743 (We are not told the nature of the illness and it does not appear that the appellant. . .was so incapacitated the he could not have called an attorney to have his rights and the rights of the corporation protected”). Here, Black merely asserted that he was under a doctor’s care and unable to work. He neither described the illness, nor explained how it **wholly prevented him from taking the steps required to remain in contact with counsel**, Black’s Title or the Department. In the absence of such showing, Black’s assertion does not demonstrate his neglect was excusable. (emphasis added).

Black’s Title, 991 P.2d at 611. There are no facts that show that the illness of Kearns’ son was of such an extensive nature that it “incapacitated” Kearns such that he was unable to act and that it “wholly prevented him” from responding to the Complaint. In fact, it is quite clear that the illness did not prevent Kearns from using the Complaint and communicate with his attorney in another court action. An answer to the subject Complaint, would presumably have been a simple pleading, such as a general denial, if Kearns claimed he did not owe the money (even though he has always admitted that the owed the money).

Based upon the above, Kearns is clearly attempting to mislead this Court. Kearns’ failure to answer the subject Complaint was not caused by excusable neglect, but appears to be the result of a conscious decision not to answer, or through pure indifference on the part of Kearns². Kearns did not use due diligence after receiving the subject Complaint and was not incapacitated or wholly prevented

² This Court can conclude, based upon the facts, that Kearns’s failure to respond to the Complaint was a deliberate choice. Board of Education of Granite School District v. Cox, 384 P.2d 806, 808 (Utah 1963).

from answering the Complaint by circumstances which were outside his control. In fact, Kearns was in total control of the circumstances. Therefore, Kearns' Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment must was correctly denied.

POINT III

KEARNS DOES NOT HAVE A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE.

The first inquiries on a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside a default judgment are whether the motion is timely filed and whether there has been sufficient excusable neglect. Black's Title, Id. at 610. Only after those two thresholds are resolved in favor of the movant, does the issue of meritorious defense arise. If Kearns cannot persuade this Court that the Trial Court clearly abused its discretion with regard to the first two levels of inquiry, then the issue of meritorious defense is not even considered. Thus, a movant may have a meritorious defense, but if he fails the timeliness or the excusable neglect standards, the movant will not be entitled to relief. See, State of Utah by and through Utah State Dept. of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055-56 (Utah 1983); Classic Cabinets, Inc. v. All American Life Insurance Co., 978 P.2d 465, 470, fn 5 (Utah App. 1999); Miller v. Brocksmith, 825 P.2d 690, 693-94 (Utah App. 1992); Board of Education of Granite School Dist. V. Cox, 14 Utah 2d 385, 384 P.2d 806 (1963). Kearns has not been able to demonstrate the initial threshold elements necessary to set aside the Default Judgment and the Trial Court's decision should be affirmed.

Notwithstanding these initial elements, Kearns cannot satisfy the final element as he has not set forth a meritorious defense. The single greatest reason why Kearns cannot set forth a meritorious defense is that he has admitted to the debt owed to Wells Fargo and has never disputed his obligation to Wells Fargo. Kearns has never filed a proposed answer. The filing of a proposed answer appears to be a requirement in setting forth a meritorious defense. See, Erickson v. Schenkers International Forwarders, Inc., 882 P.2d 1147, 1149-50 (Utah 1994); and Musselman, Id. at 1058. Thus, without a proposed answer before it and with the fact that Kearns has never denied liability and in fact has admitted liability subsequent to the filing of the Complaint, the Trial Court correctly determined that there was no meritorious defense. The purpose of the meritorious defense rule is to “prevent the necessity of judicial review of questions, which, on the face of the pleadings are frivolous.” Musselman, 667 P.2d at 1060; see also, Erickson, 882 P.2d at 1149. The defenses raised by Kearns in both his brief before this Court and before the Trial Court do not raise a meritorious defense to the underlying claim of liability.

A. Kearns’ claim that the Complaint should have been adjudicated in arbitration is not a meritorious defense.

Kearns correctly sets forth the language regarding arbitration. However, Kearns fails to discuss the specific language of that paragraph and its application in the present context. Upon review and application of this language, it is clear that the arbitration paragraph does not give rise to a meritorious defense in and of itself.

The pertinent language of the paragraph is as follows:

You agree that any Dispute not resolved informally, regardless of when it arose, will be settled in accordance with the terms of the Arbitration Program **at the election of any party**. . .A party to a Dispute **may** by summary proceeding bring any action in court to compel arbitration of any Dispute.

It is undisputed that Kearns did not timely “elect” to have the dispute between the parties arbitrated. The option of arbitration was first raised in Kearns’ Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment. The arbitration agreement does not prohibit Wells Fargo from filing a lawsuit against Kearns. What the contract provides is an opportunity for Kearns to elect arbitration if he chooses once a lawsuit is filed against him. If he allows a judgment to be entered before he elects arbitration, than that right is waived. Kearns should not be able to demand arbitration now, especially since he admits the debt and has paid the Judgment. This is consistent with the Utah Arbitration Act, § 78-31a-4, which gives a party an option to motion a court to compel the parties to arbitrate if there is an arbitration agreement.

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